Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 1 of 32

RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-29-2020

COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Appeal No. 19 AP 2091-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MARSHUN DANTE JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF & APPENDIX

MILLER APPELLATE PRACTICE, LLC

By Steven L. Miller #1005582 Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of St. Croix County, Hon. Edward F. Vlack, Circuit Judge, presiding.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

1. Does double jeopardy bar a successive "party to a crime" conviction based on the same multi-county check cashing scheme alleged in a prior conspiracy conviction?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

Oral argument and publication are not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

On May 31, 2017, Dunn County prosecutors charged Jackson with three counts of conspiracy based on a check cashing scheme involving Jackson, Brian Augustus, Robin Santee, Tyler Santee and Peyton Heistand.²

According to the complaint, Jackson and Augustus recruited Heistand and the Santees at a Walmart parking lot in St. Paul Minnesota. Heistand and the Santees were parked at the lot because they were from Iowa and had run out of money. Jackson and Augustus approached their car claiming they were construction workers who had illegal Mexicans working for them. They offered to pay for help cashing checks in order to avoid the IRS. Heistand and the Santees agreed to help, and the next day Jackson and Augustus produced checks written out in their names from various businesses. Each check was approximately \$2,000. Jackson and Augustus drove them to multiple banks "in the area" where they cashed the checks. Jackson and Augustus received the money obtained from the cashed checks and in

¹ The Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts are combined.

¹⁾ Conspiracy to commit fraud against financial institution (\$10,000 to \$100,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. §\$ 939.31 and 943.82(1), a class G felony (Wis. Stat. § 943.91(4)) 2) Conspiracy to commit theft – Movable property (>\$10,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. §\$ 939.31 and 943.29(1)(a), a class G felony (Wis. Stat. 943.29(3)(c)); and 3) Conspiracy to commit forgery, contrary to Wis. Stats. §\$ 939.31 and 943.38(1), a class H felony. All were charged as repeaters contrary to Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b).

return Heistand and the Santees were paid \$175 for each check they cashed. Heistand recalled going to banks in Eau Claire, Menomonie and Turtle Lake but did not remember all the banks or cities they went to. (55:4 (Appendix (A):9)).

All five were arrested in Menomonie on May 25, 2017 after Heistand and Robin Santee cashed checks at the Dairy State Bank in Menomonie. An employee recognized the pair from an alert the bank had received from one of their branches in Turtle Lake. The employee called the police and followed their van until the police arrived. Police recovered 21 uncashed checks hidden in the ceiling of the van and more than \$20,000 in cash between Augustus and Jackson. Police also found keys to the Hyatt Regency Hotel in Bloomington, Minnesota. The complaint alleged more cash would likely be located at the hotel "due to them committing these crimes in multiple cities." (55:3-4 (A:8-9)).

After the arrests Menomonie Detective Kelly Pollack investigated the case and prepared a report. (54:4-15 (A:16-27)). While not all the information in her report was cited in the complaint, the Dunn County prosecutors were aware of her investigation as Pollack's name was twice mentioned in the complaint as a source of information.³

According to Pollack, the checks cashed in Menomonie were "part of a larger check fraud scheme that had been traveling around various location[s] in Western Wisconsin and Eastern Minnesota." (54:4 (A:16)). Pollack interviewed Robin Santee who admitted they had been "cashing checks at different bank locations from the Twin Cities area, into

^{3 &}quot;Inv. Kelly Pollack conducted a full interview of Robin Santee...." (55:4 (A:9)) "After consulting with Inv. Pollack, it was believed it was probably (sic) they had more money in the hotel rooms due to them committing these crimes in multiple cities." (55:4 (A:16)).

the Eau Claire area and the Menomonie area." (54:7 (A:19)). Santee did not know the names of all the cities they had stopped in or the banks they had been to. *Id*.

Pollack also investigated the uncashed checks recovered from Jackson's van. They were stolen from multiple Wisconsin businesses located in Durand, Eau Claire, Altoona, Osseo, Bloomer, Holcomb, Elmwood, and Menomonie; as well as Minnesota businesses located in Ramsey, Brooklyn Park, and Clear Lake. (54:9-14 (A:21-26)). Many of these checks had already been altered to name Robin Santee, Tyler Santee or Peyton Heistand as payee. (54:7 (A:19)). After contacting several of the business owners Pollack confirmed that at a minimum, checks had been cashed in Durand (54:9 (A:21)); River Falls (54:10 (A:22)); and Menomonie (54:13 (A:25)). She specifically noted two checks from Construction Install Services, Inc, of Durand, Wisconsin that were cashed in River Falls—one by Tyler Santee and the other by Peyton Heistand. (54:10 (A:22)).

On September 8, 2017, Jackson entered a guilty plea to the first count of the complaint, Conspiracy to Commit Fraud Against Financial Institution (\$10,000 to \$100,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 939.31⁴ and 943.82(1)⁵ (without the

4 Wis. Stat. § 939.31 Conspiracy:

Except as provided in ss. 940.43 (4), 940.45 (4) and 961.41 (1x), whoever, with intent that a crime be committed, agrees or combines with another for the purpose of committing that crime may, if one or more of the parties to the conspiracy does an act to effect its object, be fined or imprisoned or both not to exceed the maximum provided for the completed crime; except that for a conspiracy to commit a crime for which the penalty is life imprisonment, the actor is guilty of a Class B felony.

5 Wis. Stat. § 943.82 Fraud against a financial institution:

repeater allegation). Counts two and three were dismissed on the prosecutor's motion. (56:2). Jackson was sentenced to 40 months, with 14 months of initial confinement and 26 months of extended supervision. (12:1 (A:11-12)).

On March 6, 2018 St. Croix County filed a three count⁶ complaint against Jackson based on the checks cashed in River Falls. One of the counts was Fraud Against Financial Institution (\$500-\$10,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1). Each count was alleged to have occurred on May 25, 2017—the same day checks were cashed in Menomonie. *Id.* The factual basis for the complaint is a verbatim recitation of Menomonie Investigator Pollack's 2017 report. (54:4-15 (A:16-27)). The case was dismissed on August 6, 2018. (73:5).

On August 10, 2018 St. Croix County filed a second complaint, this time alleging four counts of conspiracy.⁷ One

- (1) Whoever obtains money, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other property owned by or under the custody or control of a financial institution by means of false pretenses, representations, or promises, or by use of any fraudulent device, scheme, artifice, or monetary instrument may be penalized as provided in s. 943.91.
- St. Croix County Case No. 18 CF 168: 1) Fraud against financial institution (\$500-\$10,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1), a class H felony; 2) Forgery, directly or as party to a crime, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 943.38(1), a class H felony; and 3) Theft Movable property (\$2,500 -\$5,000), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.29(1)(a)&(3)(bf), a class I felony. Each count was charged with a repeater enhancement. (54:1-2 (A:13-14)).
- St. Croix County Case No. 18 CF 499: 1) Conspiracy to Commit Identity Theft Financial Gain as a Party to the Crime, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.201(2)(a); 2) Conspiracy to Commit Fraud Against Financial Institution (\$500-\$10,000) As a Party to a Crime, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.82(1); 3) Conspiracy to

of the counts was Conspiracy to Commit Fraud Against Financial Institution (\$500-\$10,000) — As a Party to a Crime, Repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.82(1). The factual portion of the complaint was a condensed version of the previous complaint, but still consisted almost entirely of information from either Inv. Pollack or the Dunn County complaint. (57:2-4 (A:30-32)). The complaint confirmed that the checks cashed in River Falls were the same checks from "Construction Install Services" that Pollack noted in her report. (54:9-10 (A:21-22); 57:4 (A:32)). On August 29, 2018, the case was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. (73:6).

The State filed a third complaint on August 31, 2018.8 This complaint was identical to the preceding complaint but without the repeater allegations. (3:1-4 (A:35-38); 57:2-4 (A:30-32)). An amended complaint was filed on September 14, 2018 changing each count from conspiracy to party to a crime. (15:1-4 (A:39-42)).

The St. Croix County prosecution was not based on any material evidence beyond what the Dunn County investigation had uncovered. (79:44). In fact, Menomonie Investigator Kelly Pollack testified at the preliminary hearing in St. Croix County. (79:9). She repeated the information contained in her report including how the defendants met; how the check cashing scheme was perpetrated; the geographical area the scheme covered, and how the defendants were caught and arrested. (79:13, 15-17). She noted the checks were cashed in River Falls and Menomonie on the same day about $2\frac{1}{2}$ hours apart. (79:42;

Commit Forgery – As a Party to a Crime, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.38(1); and 4) Conspiracy to Commit Theft – Movable Property (\$2,500 - \$5,000) – As a Party to a Crime, repeater. (57:1-2 (A:29-30)).

⁸ St. Croix County Case No. 18 CF 551.

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 12 of 32

55:3 (A:8)). As there was no direct evidence showing Jackson or Augustus were in River Falls when the checks were cashed, the prosecutor relied on "the entire fraudulent scheme" as evidence of Jackson's participation. (79:12, 58-59). The State specifically asked the Court to take judicial notice of the Dunn County conviction. (79:49).

Jackson moved to dismiss the complaint on double jeopardy grounds. (see 19:1-4; 30:1-5; 35:1-2). The circuit court denied the motion:

With regard to the double-jeopardy, I'm not going to go into a lot of detail, but the issue is do I have identical charges in law or fact. And they are not identical. In fact, we've got different dates. I know one was the same date, but we also have different counties. The statute says Dunn County can't bring this there. Federal law may be different, but this is State law. So, I checked the Wisconsin Constitution to see if there was some other provision that may have app - I couldn't find anything. So, with regard to double-jeopardy, I'm finding that there's not a double jeopardy issue in this case. And if you look at the Schultz decision, I thought I gave a very good summary about – in Paragraph 15, to be free from doublejeopardy you provide three protections; protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. And in my opinion the charging in this county is not the same offense as in Dunn County. Therefore, with regard to double jeopardy, those motions are denied.

(80:5-6 (A:5-6)).

Jackson then entered a plea to Count 2 of the information, Commit Fraud Against Financial Institution (\$500-\$10,000) – As a Party to a Crime, repeater, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.82(1). The remaining counts

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 13 of 32

were dismissed. (80:14, 21-22). He did not waive his right to challenge the conviction on double jeopardy grounds. (80). The court withheld sentence and placed Jackson on probation for two years. (80:27; 41:1-2 (A:1-2)).

ARGUMENT

I. DOUBLE JEOPARDY BARS A SUCCESSIVE "PARTY TO A CRIME" CONVICTION BASED ON THE SAME MULTI-COUNTY CHECK CASHING SCHEME ALLEGED IN A PRIOR CONSPIRACY CONVICTION.

1. Legal standards

A defendant is guaranteed the right to be free from double jeopardy by the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Steinhardt*, 2017 WI 62, ¶13, 375 Wis.2d 712, 896 N.W.2d 700. Whether this right has been violated presents a question of law reviewed de novo. *Id.*, at ¶12; *State v. Schultz*, 2019 WI App 3, ¶14, 385 Wis.2d 494, 922 N.W.2d 866, *petition for review granted* (April 9, 2019).

The right to be free from double jeopardy provides three protections: (1) protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. *Steinhardt*, at ¶13; *Schultz*, at ¶15. In this case, Jackson argues that the State violated his right to be free from a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction. See *Morris v. Reynolds*, 264 F.3d 38, 49 (2nd Cir. 2001) (Double jeopardy clearly prohibits a second prosecution for the same offense following a guilty plea.) Whether a conviction violates double jeopardy is a question

of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App 253, ¶32, 248 Wis.2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838.

A guilty plea does not forfeit a double jeopardy challenge if there was no "express waiver" *and* "it can be resolved on the record as it existed at the time the defendant pled." (emphasis original). *State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶¶19, 38, 294 Wis.2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886.

Separate prosecutions are for the "same offense" if the convictions are identical both in law and in fact. *Steinhardt*, at ¶14. If the offenses are identical in law and fact, a presumption arises that the legislature did not intend to authorize cumulative punishments. *State v. Ziegler*, 2012 WI 73, ¶61, 342 Wis.2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238.

Whether two offenses are identical in law depends largely on the *Blockburger*⁹ test, which compares the statutory elements of each crime. Under *Blockburger*, two offenses are identical in law if they share the same elements or one is a lesser included of the other. *State v. Stevens*, 123 Wis.2d 303, 321-22, 367 N.W.2d 788 (1985); see also Wis. Stat. § 939.66(1) ("actor may be convicted of either the crime charged or an included crime, but not both."). In other words, two offenses are identical in law if one offense does not require proof of any fact beyond those necessary to prove the other offense. *Ziegler*, at ¶60.

The *Blockburger* test is not absolute but rather a "rule of construction creating a rebuttable presumption of sameness." The strength of the presumption depends to some extent "upon whether the charge comes in a 'second prosecution' or in a single, first prosecution." *State v. Davidson*, 2003 WI 89, ¶¶24-25, 263 Wis.2d 145, 666 N.W.2d

⁹ Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 304 (1932).

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 15 of 32

1. Courts are "less tolerant of prosecuting the same offense in a second prosecution." *Id.*, at ¶25. Charges brought in a single prosecution may not violate multiplicity, for example, but could violate double jeopardy in a successive prosecution after conviction or acquittal. See e.g. *State v. Moffett*, 2000 WI 130, ¶12, 239 Wis. 2d 629, 619 N.W.2d 918 (State not barred from *charging* both conspiracy to deliver cocaine and being a party to delivery of cocaine, but defendant cannot be convicted of both). In addition, a defendant's interests are paramount in a successive prosecution. *Green v. United States*, 355 U.S. 184, 187 (1957). Repeated prosecutions expose an individual to "embarrassment, expense and ordeal," *Id.*; violate principles of finality; and increase the risk of a mistaken conviction. *United States v. Wilson*, 420 U.S. 332, 343 (1975).

In other words, offenses with differing elements may be the "same" for double jeopardy purposes if proof of one offense necessarily entails proving the other. *United States v. Hatchett*, 245 F.3d 625, 633 (7th Cir. 2001); *Harris v. Oklahoma*, 433 U.S. 682 (1977) (underlying felony in felony murder prosecution a "species" of lesser included). See also Wis. Stat. § 939.71.¹⁰

In *Harris*, for example, the defendant and his accomplice shot and killed a store clerk in the course of a robbery. The defendant was first tried and convicted of felony murder, with the State citing armed robbery as the underlying felony. The defendant was subsequently tried

¹⁰ Wis. Stat. § 939.71: "If an act forms the basis for a crime punishable under more than one statutory provision of this state or under a statutory provision of this state and the laws of another jurisdiction, a conviction or acquittal on the merits under one provision bars a subsequent prosecution under the other provision unless each provision requires proof of a fact for conviction which the other does not require."

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 16 of 32

and convicted for the robbery itself. A unanimous U.S. Supreme Court vacated the second conviction: "When, as here, conviction of a greater crime, murder, cannot be had without conviction of the lesser crime, robbery with firearms, the Double Jeopardy Clause bars prosecution for the lesser crime, after conviction of the greater one." *Id.* at 682.

Likewise, in *United States v. Dixon*, 509 U.S. 688 (1993), the defendant was convicted of criminal contempt after he violated a pre-trial release order prohibiting "any criminal offense." Later, he was charged separately for possession of cocaine with intent to deliver, the same offense which violated the pretrial order. The second prosecution violated double jeopardy. The pretrial order effectively "incorporated the entire governing criminal code" and therefore the crime of violating a condition of release "cannot be abstracted from the 'element' of the violated condition." *Id.*, at 698. As the criminal contempt could not be proven without proving the underlying criminal violation, the underlying criminal violation was "a species of lesserincluded offense." *Id.*, at 698-699.

In the same manner, a conspiracy conviction incorporates the elements of any underlying criminal offense that is the object of the conspiracy. See *State v. Jackson*, 2004 WI App 190, ¶8, 276 Wis. 2d 697, 688 N.W.2d 688 (the "elements [of Conspiracy] incorporate each criminal offense that is the criminal object of the conspiracy"); WI JI-CRIMINAL 570; see also *State v. Kloss*, 2019 WI App 13, ¶27, 386 Wis.2d 314, 925 N.W.2d 563, *petition for review granted* (June 11, 2019) (Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Endangerment is a lesser included of Solicitation of First Degree Reckless Injury because the solicited crimes have a lesser included relationship). See also Wis. Stat. § 939.72, which specifically applies in this case: "[a] person

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 17 of 32

shall not be convicted under both: (2) Section 939.31 for conspiracy and s. 939.05 as a party to a crime which is the objective of the conspiracy."

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 18 of 32

2. The charged offenses are identical in law.

On September 8, 2017 Jackson was convicted of Conspiracy to Commit Fraud Against a Financial Institution (value exceeds \$10,000 but does not exceed \$100,000), contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.82(1), in Dunn County Case No. 17 CF 231. (12:1 (A:11-12)). Two other conspiracy counts were dismissed as the result of a plea bargain: Conspiracy to Commit Theft – Movable Property (greater than \$10,000), contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.20(1)(a)&(3)(c); and Conspiracy to Commit Forgery, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 939.31 & 943.38(1). (56:2).

On January 10, 2019, Jackson was convicted in St. Croix County circuit court of Fraud Against a Financial Institution (value exceeds \$500 but not \$10,000), as party to a crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. 943.82(1). As none of the individual checks cashed in Dunn or St. Croix County were alleged to have exceeded \$10,000, the conspiracy conviction in Dunn County incorporated multiple checks of less than \$10,000 under Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1). The St. Croix County conviction for violating Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1) is therefore identical in law.

3. The charged offenses are identical in fact.

The question then becomes whether the two charges are identical in fact, which depends on whether the St. Croix County conviction falls within the "scope" of the initial prosecution in Dunn County. There's no dispute that the "objective" of the Dunn County conspiracy conviction required multiple checks as no individual check is alleged to have exceeded \$10,000. Thus, any number of checks totaling at least \$10,000 and up to \$100,000, whether cashed in Dunn County or elsewhere, could have supplied the

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-29-2020 Page 19 of 32

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