RECEIVED
04-13-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2019AP2091-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARSHUN DANTE JACKSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUT COURT, THE HONORABLE EDWARD F. VLACK, III, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-5366 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) shaeffersl@doj.state.wi.us Case 2019AP002091

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

ARGUMENT

The St. Croix charge did not subject Jackson to double jeopardy.

For double jeopardy to apply, the charges Α. must be identical in both law and fact.

"The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I. Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee the right to be free from double jeopardy." State v. Steinhardt, 2017 WI 62, ¶ 13, 375 Wis. 2d 712, 896 N.W.2d 700 (footnotes omitted). "This right provides three protections: 'protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and protection against multiple punishments for the same offense." Id. (citation omitted).

³ Contrary to Jackson's assertion, Jackson did not plead to a "repeater" status in St. Croix County. (See Jackson's Br. 12.) The

repeater allegation was stricken. (R. 80:7, 14, 16; 41.)

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 9 of 19

This case involves the second of these protections. (Jackson's Br. 13.) For a defendant to show that a second prosecution subjected him to double jeopardy, "the offenses charged in the two prosecutions must be identical in the law and in fact." *State v. Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d 754, 758, 242 N.W.2d 206 (1976). Double-jeopardy principles allow a second prosecution if the offenses in the two prosecutions are factually different, even if they are legally identical. *See id.* at 758–59.

"Offenses are not identical in law if each requires proof of an element that the other does not." *Schultz*, 2020 WI 24, ¶ 22 (citing *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299 (1932)). "Offenses are not identical in fact when 'a conviction for each offense requires proof of an additional fact that conviction for the other offenses does not." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d 392, 414, 576 N.W.2d 912 (1998)).

Charges in two separate prosecutions are factually identical if the "facts alleged under either of the indictments would, if proved under the other, warrant a conviction under the latter." *Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d at 758 (citation omitted). In other words, "[c]harges are not the same in fact if each requires proof of a fact that the other does not." *State v. Nommensen*, 2007 WI App 224, ¶ 8, 305 Wis. 2d 695, 741 N.W.2d 481; *see also Lechner*, 217 Wis. 2d at 414, (citing *Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d at 758 (and other cases for this test)).

"[A] guilty plea relinquishes the right to assert a [double-jeopardy] claim when the claim cannot be resolved on the record." $State\ v.\ Kelty,\ 2006\ WI\ 101,\ \P\ 2,\ 294\ Wis.\ 2d\ 62,\ 716\ N.W.2d\ 886.$ Because Jackson's double-jeopardy claim challenges a charge to which he pled guilty, that claim is waived if this Court cannot resolve it on this record. However, as the supreme court recently stated in Schultz, "courts may review the entire record of the first proceeding to determine

the scope of jeopardy." 4 Schultz, 2020 WI 24, ¶ 25. "Regardless" of whether the first prosecution results in an acquittal or a conviction, it is the record in its entirety that reveals the scope of jeopardy and protects a defendant against a subsequent prosecution for the same crime." *Id.* ¶ 32.

В. The record shows that the St. Croix County charge was not factually or legally identical to the Dunn County conviction.

1. The charges are not identical in law.

It is well-established that "[a] substantive crime and a conspiracy to commit that crime are not the 'same offence' for double jeopardy purposes." United States v. Felix, 503 U.S. 378, 389 (1992). Indeed, the Supreme Court "repeatedly has recognized that a conspiracy poses distinct dangers quite apart from those of the substantive offense." Iannelli v. *United States*, 420 U.S. 770, 778 (1975). In *Felix*, the Supreme Court upheld the defendant's conspiracy conviction against a double jeopardy challenge, even though two of the nine overt acts supporting the conspiracy charge "were based on the conduct for which he had been previously prosecuted." 503 U.S. at 388.

Here, similarly, Jackson's conspiracy conviction in Dunn County does not foreclose his fraud conviction in St. Croix County. These two offenses are different in law.

In Dunn County, Jackson was convicted of conspiracy to commit fraud against a financial institution (value exceeds \$10,000 but does not exceed \$100,000), repeater, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 939.31 (conspiracy to commit), Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1) (fraud against financial institution, value exceeds

6

⁴ The State therefore agrees with Jackson that this Court may consider the entire record in determining the scope of double jeopardy protection. (Jackson's Br. 18–21.)

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 11 of 19

\$10,000 but does not exceed \$100,000), and Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b) (repeater). (R. 12:1.) It was a class G felony. (*Id.*) The crime occurred in Menomonie, Wisconsin at Dairy State Bank. (R. 12:1–2.)

In St. Croix County, Jackson was charged with fraud against a financial institution (value exceeds \$500 but does not exceed \$10,000) as PTAC, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1) (fraud against a financial institution, value exceeds \$500 but does not exceed \$10,000), Wis. Stat. § 939.05 (as PTAC), and Wis. Stat. § 939.62(1)(b) (repeater). (R. 15:1.) It was a class H felony. (*Id.*) The crime occurred in River Falls, Wisconsin at Security Financial Bank. (R. 15:1–3.)

So, Jackson was charged with different class felonies for different crimes that occurred in different counties. The crime of conspiracy under Wis. Stat. § 939.31 has "three elements: (1) an intent by the defendant that the crime be committed; (2) an agreement between the defendant and at least one other person to commit the crime; and (3) an act performed by one of the conspirators in furtherance of the conspiracy." State v. Routon, 2007 WI App 178, ¶ 18, 304 Wis. 2d 480, 736 N.W.2d 530. The elements of Jackson's substantive offense are that he, as a party to the crime, "obtain[ed] money . . . owned by or under the custody or control of a financial institution," and did so "by use of any fraudulent device, scheme, artifice, or monetary instrument." Wis. Stat. § 943.82(1).

These two offenses are not identical in law. The substantive offense under section 943.82(1) does not require an agreement. See id. And the crime of conspiracy does not require any member of the conspiracy to obtain money or otherwise complete the agreed-upon crime. Rather, the crime of conspiracy "is complete when there is an agreement and an initial overt act in furtherance of the agreement." State v. Moffett, 2000 WI App 67, ¶ 13, 233 Wis. 2d 628, 608 N.W.2d

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 12 of 19

733, aff'd and adopted, 2000 WI 130, ¶ 16, 239 Wis. 2d 629, 619 N.W.2d 918.

Jackson's one-sentence argument that the St. Croix County charge is identical in law is the following: "As none of the individual checks cashed in Dunn or St. Croix County were alleged to have exceeded \$10,000, the conspiracy conviction in Dunn County incorporated multiple checks of less than \$10,000 under Wis. Stat § 943.82(1)." (Jackson's Br. 17.) The State construes Jackson's argument to be that because Jackson was convicted in Dunn County for conspiring to cash fake checks *in Dunn County* that were all individually less than \$10,000, St. Croix County cannot charge Jackson for his fraudulent conduct in cashing the two fake checks *in St. Croix County* because the Dunn County conspiracy conviction "incorporated" the St. Croix County fraud.

Jackson is wrong.

Jackson was not convicted in Dunn County for any fraudulent conduct (or conspiracy) that he committed in St. Croix County. (See R. 56:2–3; 12:1.) Similarly, Jackson was not charged in St. Croix County for any fraudulent conduct he committed in Dunn County. (R. 15.) Rather, he was charged in St. Croix County with fraud against a financial institution where he, either directly or as a PTAC, cashed fake checks at a financial institution located in St. Croix County – Security Financial Bank in River Falls. (Id.) Jackson was not convicted of this offense in Dunn County. He was convicted of conspiring to cash fake checks at Dairy State Bank in Menomonie, Dunn County. (R. 12:1.)

Jackson parenthetically quotes from this Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*, which held that the elements of the crime of conspiracy "incorporate each criminal offense that is the criminal object of the conspiracy. This means that when a conspiracy has as its object the commission of multiple crimes, separate charges and convictions for each intended

crime are permissible." State v. Jackson, 2004 WI App 190, \P 8, 276 Wis. 2d 697, 688 N.W.2d 688. This Court in Jackson thus held that the defendant there could be "charged with two counts of conspiracy." Id. \P 9. That holding does not apply here because Jackson was not convicted of two counts of conspiracy. He was convicted of one count of conspiracy and one count of fraud as a party to the crime. This Court's decision in Jackson is inapposite.

The trial court was correct. The St. Croix County offense was not legally the same offense as the Dunn County offense. (R. 80:5–6.) Because Jackson cannot show that the offenses are identical in law, there is no double jeopardy violation. This Court should affirm his judgment of conviction.

2. The charges are not identical in fact.

Should this Court disagree and conclude that the charges are identical in law, they are not identical in fact.

Jackson argues that based on the entire record, "a reasonable person familiar with the facts and circumstances of this case would understand that he conspired to steal, alter, and cash checks not just in Dunn County but throughout Western Wisconsin." (Jackson's Br. 22 (emphasis added).) And, that "the factual scope of the Dunn County prosecution includes the checks cashed in St. Croix County." (Jackson's Br. 21.) Jackson is wrong.

First, Jackson's "reasonable person" test is the test that was applied in $United\ State\ v.\ Olmeda$, 461 F.3d 271, 282 (2nd Cir. 2006). But in Schultz, which the Wisconsin Supreme Court decided after Jackson filed his appellate brief, the court expressly declined to adopt this "reasonable person" test. Schultz, 2020 WI 24, ¶¶ 47, 49. It noted that Olmeda cited no cases from the United States Supreme Court that incorporated this test, "and we have discovered none." Id. ¶ 48. It further recognized that "[t]he double jeopardy clauses

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 14 of 19

of the Fifth Amendment and Article 1, Section 8 do not include the word 'reasonable' and it is a seminal canon of textual interpretation that we do not insert words into statutes or constitutional text." Id. ¶ 49. So the "reasonable person" standard does not apply.

Second, Jackson was prosecuted in St. Croix County for a crime he committed *in* St. Croix County. He was not prosecuted for a crime that he committed in a different county. This case is analogous to *Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d at 755–59. In that case, the supreme court decided there was no double jeopardy violation when, after a jury trial, the trial court convicted Van Meter of knowingly fleeing a police officer in Wood County, after he was previously convicted of knowingly fleeing a police officer in Portage County, with both charges arising from the same high speed chase across county lines, in violation of the same statute. *Id*.

Van Meter argued the Double Jeopardy Clause barred the second prosecution. Id. at 757. Acknowledging the "identity of legal elements" based on both prosecutions charging violations of the same statute, the supreme court concluded that the requisite "identity in fact[] cannot be shown" because "eluding Wood county officers in Wood county" is not the same offense as "eluding Portage county officers in Portage county." Id. at 757–58. The court held a double jeopardy violation exists when "facts alleged under either of the indictments would, if proved under the other, warrant a conviction under the latter." Id. at 758 (quoting State v. George, 69 Wis. 2d 92, 98, 230 N.W.2d 253 (1975)). Applying that test, the supreme court determined that Van Meter had "not been put twice in jeopardy for the same offense because proof of facts for conviction for the Wood county offense would not have sustained conviction for the Portage county offense." Van Meter, 72 Wis. 2d at 759.

Similarly, in this case, the facts alleged on the plain language of the complaints are different. (R. 15; 55.)

Conspiring to commit fraud in Menomonie, Dunn County at Diary State Bank is factually not the same offense as committing fraud in River Falls, St. Croix County at Security Financial Bank. (*Id.*) The facts alleged under either complaint would not, "if proved under the other, warrant a conviction under the latter." *See Van Meter*, 72 Wis. 2d at 758. There is no double jeopardy violation.

But Jackson argues that the Dunn County conspiracy charge is not limited to checks cashed in Dunn County because (1) the "conspiracy took place throughout Western Wisconsin," and (2) the State "bound itself" by "act[ing] through the agency of the Dunn County District Attorney."5 (Jackson's Br. 23, 24.) Jackson is wrong. As the trial court correctly noted, "[t]he allegations of the Dunn County case were allegations of crimes allegedly committed in Dunn County. The allegations in these proceedings are allegations of crimes allegedly committed in St. Croix County." (R. 80:4.) And, "[t]here was no reference at all in Dunn County to any other alleged counts." (Id.) This is correct. The Dunn County complaint did not specifically mention the fraudulent crime in River Falls that served as the basis for the St. Croix County conviction. (R. 55; A-App. 7–10.) As Jackson admitted to the trial court: "the Dunn County Information did not specifically list these checks." (R. 35:2.) Therefore, as the trial court concluded, Jackson's crimes in St. Croix "had to be brought in St. Croix County, cannot be brought in Dunn County unless there was a consolidation." (R. 80:4.) Like in Van Meter, Jackson was not "put twice in jeopardy for the same offense because proof of facts for conviction for the [St. Croix] county

⁵ While Jackson argues that under Wis. Stat. § 939.72(2) he cannot be convicted of both conspiracy *and* PTAC "which is the objective of the conspiracy" (Jackson's Br. 16), his reliance on that statute is misplaced. Jackson was not convicted of both conspiracy and PTAC in either Dunn County or St. Croix County. (R. 12; 15.)

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 16 of 19

offense would not have sustained conviction for the [Dunn] county offense." See Van Meter, 72 Wis. 2d at 759.

Jackson next argues that *United State v. Crowder*, 346 F.2d 1 (6th Cir. 1964), also applies. (Jackson's Br. 22.) But *Crowder*, a nonbinding federal case, is inapposite. In *Crowder*, the defendant was prosecuted for conspiracy to transport stolen and forged money orders in interstate commerce. The indictment specifically listed only 12 money orders that the defendant was alleged to have possessed, even though 235 money orders had been recovered and offered into evidence. *Crowder*, 346 F.2d at 2–3. The defendant argued that because the indictment did not list all 235 money orders, it failed to protect him "against subsequent jeopardy for the same offense." *Id.* at 3. The Sixth Circuit disagreed, concluding that the record, which included evidence of all 235 money orders, protected against a subsequent prosecution related to *all* money orders, not just the 12 in the indictment. *Id.*

But in this case, nowhere in the Dunn County complaint does it discuss either a check-cashing *conspiracy* in St. Croix County, or that actual *fraud* occurred in St. Croix County. (R. 55:2–4.) Again, the Dunn County complaint did not mention the specific St. Croix crime at all (R. 55), and, as Jackson conceded to the trial court, nor did the complaint include the specific checks at issue in St. Croix County. (R. 35:2; 55:2–4.)

Jackson cites to Wis. Stat. § 939.72(2) twice. (Jackson's Br. 16, 24.) This statute does not help Jackson. It states that a person shall not be convicted for both conspiracy under section 939.31 and "as a party to a crime which is the objective of the conspiracy." Wis. Stat. § 939.72(2). However, when addressing subsection (3)'s analogous provision regarding attempted and completed crimes, the supreme court explained that "[t]he bar in 939.72(3) follows from the proposition that it is improper to convict for crimes based on the same conduct unless each requires proof of a fact not

Case 2019AP002091 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-13-2020 Page 17 of 19

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